

# **Resilience in Practice**

Operationalising the Ten Characteristics of Resilience through the Case of Greening Darfur

Katie Harris SCR Discussion Paper 10

## Collaborate

Strengthen collaboration and integration between diverse stakeholders working on disasters, climate and development

To what extent are climate change adaptation, disaster risk management and development integrated across sectors and scales? How are organisations working on disasters, climate change and development collaborating?

# Experiment

Strengthen the ability of people, organisations and networks to experiment and innovate

How are the institutions, organisations and communities involved in tackling changing disaster risks and uncertainties creating and strengthening opportunities to innovate and experiment?

## Challenge

# Promote more socially just and equitable economic systems

How are interventions challenging injustice and exclusion and providing equitable access to sustainable livelihood opportunities? Have climate change impacts been considered and integrated into these interventions?

### Assess

Periodically assess the effects of climate change on current and future disaster risks and uncertainties

How is knowledge from meteorology, climatology, social science, and communities about hazards, vulnerabilities and uncertainties being collected, integrated and used at different scales?

### Learn

Promote regular learning and reflection to improve the implementation of policies and practices

Have disaster risk management policies and practices been changed as a result of reflection and learning-by-doing? Is there a process in place for information and learning to flow from communities to organisations and vice versa?

# Advocate

Forge partnerships to ensure the rights and entitlements of people

to access basic services, productive assets and common property resources

What networks and alliances are in place to advocate for the rights and entitlements of people to access basic services, productive assets and common property resources?

## Integrate

Integrate knowledge of changing risks and uncertainties into planning, policy and programme design to reduce the vulnerability and exposure of people's lives and livelihoods

How is knowledge about changing disaster risks being incorporated into and acted upon within interventions? How are measures to tackle uncertainty being considered in these processes? How are these processes strengthening partnerships between communities, governments and other stakeholders?

# Inform

#### Increase access of all stakeholders to information and support services concerning changing disaster risks, uncertainties and broader climate impacts

How are varied educational approaches, early warning systems, media and community-led public awareness programmes supporting increased access to information and related support services?

## Be flexible

Ensure policies and practices to tackle changing disaster risk are flexible, integrated across sectors and scale and have regular feedback loops

What are the links between people and organisations working to reduce changing disaster risks and uncertainties at community, sub-national, national and international levels? How flexible,

accountable and transparent are these people and organisations?

### Plan

# Plan for uncertainty and unexpected events

What activities are being carried out to support the capacity of governments, communities and other stakeholders to plan for and manage the uncertainties of future climate and development events? How are you building capacity through exercises, systems and training to create integrated plans?

### Empower

Empower communities and local authorities to influence the decisions of national governments, NGOs, international and private sector organisations and to promote accountability and transparency

To what extent are decision-making structures de-centralised, participatory and inclusive? How do communities, including women, children and other marginalised groups, influence decisions? How do they hold government and other organisations to account?

### Develop

# Promote environmental sustainability and low carbon development

How are interventions protecting and restoring ecosystems and to what extent is renewable energy being promoted, to enhance resilience? How is the mitigation of greenhouse gases being integrated within development plans?

# Contents

Introduction		4
1.	The revival of resilience	4
2.	Resilience - unpacking the term	5
3.	How can we create resilience to all kinds of risks?	6
4.	The Darfur context	8
5.	Operationalising the ten characteristics of resilience through Greening Darfur	8
	5.1. Resilience characteristic 1 - diverse opportunities	8
	5.2. Resilience characteristic 2 - effective governance and institutions	9
	5.3. Resilience characteristic 3 - acceptance of uncertainty and change	10
	5.4. Resilience characteristic 4 - community involvement and local knowledge	11
	5.5. Resilience characteristic 5 - preparedness and redundancy	11
	5.6. Resilience characteristic 6 - equitable systems	12
	5.7. Resilience characteristic 7 - social values and structures	13
	5.8. Resilience characteristic 8 - non-equilibrium dynamics	14
	5.9. Resilience characteristic 9 - continual and effective learning	14
	5.10. Resilience characteristic 10 - cross-scalar perspective	15
6.	How can Greening Darfur further build resilience?	16
7.	Resilience in practice - issues for consideration	17
8.	'Building Resilience' - points to consider for policy makers and practitioners	18
	8.1. Programming and funding	18
	8.2. Organisational structure and mandate	18
	8.3. Sectoral challenges and 'good development'	18
9.	Conclusion	19
	9.1. Resilience characteristics	19
	9.2. Resilience within a coping deficit and recognition of power and politics	20
	9.3. What role for climate change?	21
References		22
Box 1 - Ten main characteristics of resilient systems		6
Annex 1 – Programme description: the Greening Darfur programme		24
Acknowledgments		26

## Introduction

What does resilience look like in practice? How can conceptual understandings of resilience be transformed into meaningful applications at the practical level? Are existing programmes already building resilience or does undertaking a 'resilient' programme mean doing something differently? These are just some of the questions this paper will explore.

This paper commits to a specific understanding of the concept of resilience and explores the usefulness, and in some respects validity, of that conceptual understanding of resilience in practice. Specifically, the paper will seek to apply Bahadur et al.'s (2010) ten characteristics of resilience to the Greening Darfur programme implemented by Practical Action in El Fashir, Sudan (for programme details, see Annex 1). There is currently a lack of evidence and analysis on how to operationalise resilience and what this means in practice. The analysis presented here, based on primary and secondary research, seeks to contribute towards filling that gap.

Thinking seriously about resilience is not just a matter of semantics. The central reason why the concept of resilience is useful is because people experience their lives holistically: people live in complex, interconnected systems. This includes experiencing different crises, shocks, stresses, hazards and risks in overlapping or simultaneous ways. It is at the analytical and operational level that issues become divided and silos appear, for example as specific sectors or disciplines. The concept of resilience is therefore potentially useful for putting those vulnerable to the conditions of climate change, disaster risk and conflict at the centre of the frame, by developing a more holistic understanding of the complexities of the challenges that individuals face on a daily basis.

The paper is structured as follows: First, the paper describes the revival of the use of the concept of resilience in academic and policy circles, then the term itself is unpacked and Bahadur et al.'s (2010) understanding of the concept is outlined. Next the paper considers how we can create resilience to all kinds of risks before briefly describing the case context, Darfur. The main focus of the paper is the operationalisation of the ten characteristics of resilience through the case of Greening Darfur, which is followed by a consideration of how the programme can further build resilience. The paper then outlines issues for consideration, both in terms of resilience in practice and issues for policy makers and practitioners, followed by a conclusion.

#### Methodology

This paper builds on primary research undertaken by the author and in-country researcher with Practical Action technical, programme and management staff in El Fashir and Khartoum, as well as Christian Aid Sudan, one of the Greening Darfur funders. It also incorporates fieldwork with Village Development Committees in El Fashir who were part of the Greening Darfur programme. In addition, desk-based research was undertaken and included a literature review of academic and grey literature and Greening Darfur programme reports. The paper builds on each of these knowledge sources and findings, in addition to the author's own experience, conversations and reflections.

## 1. The revival of resilience

The term resilience has been used in various different guises in academic disciplines for the past few decades and has gained increased traction in policy circles throughout the late noughties. The new, or in some cases renewed, interest in the term is the result of a number of processes. First, the term is seen to be a useful unifying concept; an umbrella term under which many communities of practice, disciplines and policy realms can relate to one another. Many programmes seeking to build climate and disaster resilience provide effective illustrations<sup>1</sup>. With the increased understanding of the links between disaster risk and climate change, there has been a concerted effort to invest in integrating different approaches which it is believed will contribute towards building 'resilience'. This has taken many different forms: mainstreaming disaster risk reduction into development programmes; the convergence of climate change adaptation and disaster risk reduction; and the reframing of development through a climate lens. A recent example is the Climate Smart Disaster Risk Management (CSDRM) approach, which brings together climate change, disaster risk management and development<sup>2</sup>. For

<sup>1</sup>There is also much work on trying to understand adaptation by adopting a resilience lens, for examples see Nelson, Adger and Brown (2007) and Ensor (2011)

<sup>2</sup>See www.csdrm.org

CSDRM, as with many other initiatives, because of its many entry points the concept of resilience has been a useful tool to better understand - at least on a theoretical level - how to bring together sectors that have until now functioned in a relatively siloed manner. At the policy level, the UK's Humanitarian Emergency Response Review (HERR, 2011) and DfID's response to the review (DfID, 2011) provide useful examples. Despite the inclusion of the term in these and many other important policy and programme documents, it is still largely being worked out what resilience means in practice. It remains to be seen to what extent the potentially unifying term will result in significant changes in approach, policy and practice.

Second, by encouraging systems-based thinking many authors believe the concept of resilience has the potential to radically transform the compartmentalised and somewhat fragmented ways the challenges of development are currently framed and addressed. Resilience offers the potential to better reflect the realities on the ground for those living with conditions of vulnerability. By recognising the complex interplay of the conditions of vulnerability, resilience could provide a means for more holistic understandings of such complexity - shifting attention away from individual project approaches that focus on one dissected aspect of that complex milieu. Thinking and acting holistically is of course much easier said than done. The compatibility of approaches - between climate change, disaster risk reduction and conflict, as well as other development approaches - is not always apparent and trade-offs are likely to occur. It is not the intention to explore these relationships here, but to note that in exploring the potential usefulness of the concept of resilience as a frame, tensions between different approaches will arise. The term resilience has often been treated as a catch-all concept, and consequently in many ways does not represent something particularly new. The concept has a long history in psychology and engineering, for example. Moreover, the use of resilience as a concept and the way it is employed does not come without its critics (see Cannon and Muller-Mahn, 2010). For example, the concept of resilience is not always employed in ways that are potentially transformative, holistic and in line with systems thinking (for a critique, see Brown, 2011).

## 2. Resilience - unpacking the term

The intention here is not to give a full and thorough assessment of the term resilience or its multiple and varied uses. What follows is a summary of the specific understanding of resilience that will be employed within this paper.

First, it is important to make clear that the term resilience means different things to different people. There is substantial diversity in how the term is understood and employed between disciplines, and consequently different understandings of the term have different implications when translated into policy or action. On a casual basis, i.e. in everyday language, the term resilience may be used simply as a noun to mean 'the ability of a substance or object to spring back into shape; the capacity to recover quickly from difficulties'<sup>3</sup>. However, from a theoretical perspective there are significant and important variations in how the term is understood. One of the most useful mappings of the term comes from Bahadur et al. (2010), outlining sixteen different conceptualisations of resilience ranging from the psychological, social and ecological to the economic. This is not simply an academic exercise, as Bahadur et al. (2010: 2) note: '... there has been little attempt to scrutinise the literature to examine how it might underpin an operational approach to resilience'. What can be seen is the adoption of a term that is varied and in some cases loosely defined, and perhaps more worryingly there is often a lack of awareness that such diversity of interpretation exists. This has real significance when it comes to operationalising the term: different understandings lead to different '...notions of the components, characteristics and indicators of resilient systems' (Bahadur et al., 2010: 5).

Despite the challenges that the use of the term resilience presents, this paper employs the term in accordance with the ten characteristics of a resilient system as outlined by Bahadur et al. (2010: 2-3) - see Box 1 below. Further, this paper will adopt the notion that integrated approaches<sup>4</sup> provide a means to promote the characteristics of a resilient system. The ten characteristics of resilience will be explored as a useful frame for understanding the inter-linkages between different parts of a system.

<sup>3</sup>Oxford English Dictionary (2011) Available at: http:// oxforddictionaries.com/ definition/resilience [Accessed 21.10.2011]

<sup>4</sup>Integrated approaches' in this paper refers to bringing together different issues, sectors and disciplines, and proactively thinking about their compatibility and the trade-offs between them. It is not understood to mean simply 'doing lots of things' simultaneously, nor to mean subsuming one sector within/ under another.

#### Box 1 - Ten main characteristics of resilient systems

1. A high level of diversity in groups performing different functions in an ecosystem; in the availability of economic opportunities; in the voices included in a resilience-building policy process; in partnerships within a community; in the natural resources on which communities may rely; and in planning, response and recovery activities.

2. Effective governance and institutions which may enhance community cohesion. These should be decentralised, flexible and in touch with local realities; should facilitate system-wide learning; and perform other specialised functions such as translating scientific data on climate change into actionable guidance for policymakers.

3. The inevitable existence of uncertainty and change is accepted. The non-linearity or randomness of events in a system is acknowledged, which shifts policy from an attempt to control change and create stability to managing the capacity of systems to cope with, adapt to, and shape change.

4. There is community involvement and the appropriation of local knowledge in any resiliencebuilding projects; communities enjoy ownership of natural resources; communities have a voice in relevant policy processes.

5. Preparedness activities aim not at resisting change but preparing to live with it; this could be by building in redundancy within systems (when partial failure does not lead to the system collapsing) or by incorporating failure scenarios in Disaster Management (DM) plans.

6. A high degree of social and economic equity exists in systems; resilience programmes consider issues of justice and equity when distributing risks within communities.

7. The importance of social values and structures is acknowledged because association between individuals can have a positive impact on cooperation in a community which may lead to more equal access to natural resources and greater resilience; it may also bring down transaction costs as agreements between community members would be honoured.

8. The non-equilibrium dynamics of a system are acknowledged. Any approach to building resilience should not work with an idea of restoring equilibrium because systems do not have a stable state to which they should return after a disturbance.

9. Continual and effective learning is important. This may take the form of iterative policy/ institutional processes, organisational learning, reflective practice, adaptive management and may merge with the concept of adaptive capacity.

10. Resilient systems take a cross-scalar perspective of events and occurrences. Resilience is built through social, political, economic and cultural networks that reach from the local to the global scale.

Source: Bahadur et al. (2010: 2-3)

# 3. How can we create resilience to all kinds of risks?

There are several conceptual and practical reasons for the way different aspects of resilience are often divided into separate issues.

- What causes one type of shock or stress is not the same as another, therefore how they are understood, conceptualised and analysed varies.
- The impacts of different shocks and stresses varies, therefore how they are managed will be different depending on the context. Different tools, approaches and interventions will be needed.
- Funding streams are compartmentalised into sectors, topics and discrete issues, forcing sub-division and sector-specific interventions.

 Individuals in the development sector can at most specialise in one or two sectors given the time it takes to undergo education, training and/or field experience. This reinforces the presence of discrete specialisms.

Despite these reasons for addressing issues in compartmentalised ways, the reality is that if we put vulnerable communities at the centre of the frame, the separation of shocks and stresses can limit our understanding. Individuals, particularly those who are confronted with a plethora of challenges associated with disaster risk, climate change and conflict, may only be able to understand the complexity of their situation when viewed holistically. The emphasis that resilience places on cross-scalar processes and learning, for example, derive from the fact that people live in complex, interconnected systems. Recognising this requires more than avoiding silos (although this is a first step), what is needed is a better understanding of '...how can all forms of shock and risk, together with uncertainty, be managed, including those from natural phenomena and man-made factors, particularly insecurity ('integrated disaster risk management')?'(Mitchell, 2011:2).

Shocks and stresses are experienced and interact with one another differently in different contexts. Thus, it is necessary that any attempt to understand what a resilient system looks like is as context-specific as possible. This includes, amongst other things: being historically grounded; taking into consideration the political economy of a given context; considering the role of natural resources and natural resource management in local livelihood systems; taking into consideration the critical role of people's perceptions and values of climate change adaptation (see Adger, Lorenzoni and O'Brien, 2009); different perceptions of risk; the role of formal and informal governance mechanisms at different levels; understanding the conflict dynamics at play; the role of indigenous/traditional/local coping mechanisms; and the role of culture in disaster risk (see Harris, 2011).

The argument here is not simply that a more informed context analysis is required. In order to respond effectively to the complexities of people's lives, to support communities to build their adaptive capacity which can contribute towards enabling a more resilient system, it is necessary to know how that system works. This requires a better understanding of the way interventions interact with shocks and stresses beyond those a specific intervention is designed to target. Much can be learned from the way this is encouraged in conflict sensitive approaches to development (Conflict Sensitivity Consortium, 2004), for example (although there is not the space to explore this in more detail here). In the planning, implementation and monitoring of an intervention, conflict sensitivity encourages an understanding of both the intended and unintended impact and outcomes.

Adopting the position that integrated policies and programmes is a way to operationalise the characteristics of resilience provides a means to explore the value of existing programmes which have sought to bring together a variety of sectors and approaches. Despite there being a lack of rigorous empirical research on resilience in practice from the development sector, as Bahadur et al. (2010: 19) correctly point out, we are not starting from scratch if we invest in rethinking the way we understand current interventions. Just because something is packaged within a particular sector, or designed to address a particular shock or stress, does not mean that an intervention may not also be having positive (or negative) contributions to building resilience. This aligns with conflict sensitivity mentioned previously, and the approach taken by the ACCRA programme, which has been mining existing programmes (sustainable livelihoods, social protection and DRR) in order to better understand what can be learnt about enhancing adaptive capacity for climate change (see Jones et al., 2010). This paper takes a similar approach.

It is important to recognise that the characteristics of resilience are being employed in this paper precisely because they allow for a reframing of interventions and their impact in ways that do not rely on conventional sector-specific frames. Thus, the programme at the centre of the research, Practical Action's Greening Darfur, does not necessarily employ the terminology of disaster risk reduction, for example, but that does not mean the programme's activities do not contribute to building resilience to disaster risk. This paper intends to identify practical examples of dealing with complex and dynamic situations, which in turn it is hoped may develop our understanding of what 'building resilience' may look like in practice.

## 4. The Darfur context

It is not the intention of this paper to provide a background to Darfur, the location of the programme intervention and research; there are many excellent analyses of the Darfur context, which informed this paper through a thorough literature review<sup>5</sup>. Much has been written on the dynamic and multifaceted nature of the Darfurian context and its links to the broader national, regional and international political economy. Any context analysis of Darfur necessarily needs to employ a strong political economy approach and myriad interrelated factors, including the following: the environment (recurrent droughts, low precipitation, vulnerable ecosystems, expanding desertification southwards); security (instability contributing to population displacement and an ongoing refugee crisis, kidnapping, increasing tribal conflict, proliferation of small arms, militarisation of the young); livelihoods (chronic food insecurity, lack of livelihood and employment opportunities); history (historical grievances); disasters (drought, famine and more recently floods); governance (weak and contested formal governance institutions, disrupted and contested local governance mechanisms, lack of democratic processes); socioeconomic (increased poverty, inequitable distribution of resources); political (increasing factions, fragmentation of negotiations); and humanitarian (the expulsion of INGOs and lack of local capacity to provide services). Readers wanting to know more are pointed in the direction of Flint and de Waal (2005; see also Duffield, 2001; Keen, 2008)6.

# 5. Operationalising the ten characteristics of resilience through Greening Darfur

The Greening Darfur programme was not designed with Bahadur et al.'s (2010) resilience characteristics in mind but makes great strides towards developing and implementing integrated programming: it brings together sustainable livelihoods interventions with food security, water harvesting, market access, knowledge sharing, new technologies, capacity building and consensus building, all in a difficult and unstable environment. The aim of this section is to explore to what extent the programme contributes towards building each of the ten characteristics of resilience. It must be recognised that it is not the intention to imply that the characteristics can or should be applied as a form of checklist. The intention here is to try and operationalise the characteristics by unpacking what they could mean in practice through the experience of Greening Darfur and to explore the ways in which the programme can be understood to be building resilience. The reader will notice that some of the characteristics are incredibly broad. Where this is the case the activities of Greening Darfur will likely only touch on certain aspects of that characteristic. This is not surprising; it is highly unlikely that any programme could ever fully address all ten characteristics.

#### 5.1. Resilience characteristic 1 - diverse opportunities

A high level of diversity in groups performing different functions in an ecosystem; in the availability of economic opportunities; in the voices included in a resilience-building policy process; in partnerships within a community; in the natural resources on which communities may rely; and in planning, response and recovery activities.

Three examples are provided below of how the Greening Darfur programme contributes to building resilience in terms of the first characteristic: the regeneration of natural resource management systems; the establishment of community forests and nurseries; and increased income through crop diversification.

A good illustration of Greening Darfur's attempt to support diversity, protect ecosystems, enhance community ownership and promote sustainable use of natural resources is the work towards regenerating the natural resource management systems for use by humans and livestock. In an attempt to prevent degradation and regenerate vegetation cover, Practical Action have been involved in projects (within and beyond Greening Darfur) to construct terraces, establish community forests and shelter belts and regenerate rangeland. Together, these activities promote diversity within an ecosystem by allowing that system to support multiple activities in a sustainable way.

For example, over 210,000 seedlings of various different types were produced and transplanted, and with additional funds from the Food and Agriculture Organisation 15 community nurseries

<sup>5</sup>The desk-based literature review was supported by independent researcher Sara Wolcott.

<sup>6</sup>The Greening Darfur programme is based out of the Practical Action El Fashir field office. The majority of villages involved in programme implementation have remained settled through the conflict, but obviously have been severely affected by the broader conflict context. were established which produced a further 120,000 seedlings (Practical Action, 2010d: 10). This was possible because Greening Darfur led ten environmental awareness sessions and trained 63 community members on tree seeding production and transplantation. Moreover, in conjunction with Community Based Organisations (CBOs), Greening Darfur established four community nurseries and 11 community forests as part of the natural resource regeneration project, in conjunction with the National Forest Corporation.

It's apparent that Greening Darfur's operational context places severe constraints on the ability to develop a diverse range of economic opportunities. Nevertheless, the programme did manage to support communities to increase their ability to sustain the natural resources on which they rely by enabling 31 Village Extension Agents to undertake advanced training on crop production. The crop production techniques were subsequently used to increase the success rate as well as the diversification of crop production in the area (Practical Action, 2010d: 6). In conjunction with other activities aimed at improving food and water security, the 2010 cropping season increased farmers' incomes (Practical Action, 2010d: 9). It is estimated that the average cropping yield for 2010 was 4.1 MT per hectare, compared to 1.5 MT per hectare in previous years with similar rainy seasons (Practical Action, 2010d: 8). The 'availability of economic opportunities' dimension of resilience was also supported by activities which sought to link farmers' agricultural products with market opportunities within the private sector (Practical Action, 2010d: 9).

#### 5.2. Resilience characteristic 2 - effective governance and institutions

Effective governance and institutions which may enhance community cohesion. These should be decentralised, flexible and in touch with local realities; should facilitate system-wide learning; and perform other specialized functions such as translating scientific data on climate change into actionable guidance for policymakers.

Aspects of the Greening Darfur programme that can be seen to contribute to building the second dimension of resilience include building the capacity of the networks to form institutions that adhere to basic organisational good governance; the networks developing their own development priorities and plans, reflecting a form of decentralisation; and securing additional funding from other sources reflecting an ability to act independently.

Practical Action's early work in Darfur focused on developing CBOs which later coalesced around three parent networks which have become central to Greening Darfur: the Village Development Committee Network (VDC-net), Women's Development Associations Network (WDA-net) and the Market Network (M-net) (Practical Action, 2009a). One of the main ambitions of the Greening Darfur programme was to build the capacity of the networks to be able to manage, prioritise, plan and resource their own development priorities. In doing so, it is hoped that the networks can represent the rural poor and enable their voice to be heard in policy processes (Practical Action, 2010d: 4), thus contributing towards the development of effective institutions to enhance community cohesion.

The institutional capacity of the networks has been strengthened by encouraging processes and procedures that are fundamental to ensuring good governance within a programme and organisation. Members of the networks receive basic book keeping and management training to help them establish transparent and accountable financial systems and establish a Programme Management Committee with fair representation from the networks and Practical Action staff. The existence of the Programme Management Committee has strengthened the ability of the networks to ensure local realities and views are represented in biweekly meetings during discussions on the implementation of the programme, review of progress, setting monthly joint plans, establishing selection criteria for targeting CBOs and beneficiaries, and support monitoring of the programme (Practical Action, 2009b: 3).

The establishment of the Programme Management Committee has helped to encourage decentralised decision-making in programme implementation. It has also encouraged flexible planning, as monthly joint plans are devised based on reflection on the previous month's progress. Moreover, the willingness and enthusiasm of the networks to form a joint committee has encouraged consensus building among the three networks. This has been demonstrated by the networks sharing funding opportunities and information, which has reduced the potential for competition developing between them and instead capitalises on the 'collective work spirit'

that has emerged, initiated by the Greening Darfur programme (Practical Action, 2009b: 3).

The support provided by Greening Darfur certainly helped to develop the networks and build their capacity to implement the programme. Moreover, their engagement with the programme activities provided a space to engage with various government ministries they might not have otherwise had the opportunity to encounter, such as the Ministry of Agriculture. What is less clear is the extent to which the networks have been able to achieve policy influence. In recognition of this, the networks have agreed that an umbrella forum is needed that involves other, existing networks in North Darfur, to create a 'powerful lobbying body able to advocate on behalf of communities' (Practical Action, 2010d: 5).

Another outcome of the programme which can be seen to contribute towards the second characteristic of resilience is the enhanced capacity of the networks to gain access to alternative donor funding. This reflects an empowering of the communities to be able to decide on their own development priorities in a decentralised manner and gain access to funding from other sources. By 2010, the networks had submitted 84 proposals and managed to secure more than 6.8 million SDG (£1.5 million) in funds (Practical Action, 2010d: 5). The networks have also become operating partners with the United Nations and other humanitarian agencies. However, it is unclear to what extent this implies decentralisation or being 'in touch with local realities' as outlined in the resilience characteristic. Some would interpret this as increased capacity to act as implementer or sub-contractor with limited control over the actual programme activities which would be subject to donor priorities and demands. Following the central government move to allow primarily only Sudanese NGOs to work in Darfur, many agencies have restricted themselves, or been restricted to, humanitarian response and service delivery and often employ local organisations as 'local intermediaries in the aid process', what Jaspars (2010: 15) refers to as 'more sub-contractors than local partners'.

Despite the operational challenges, the resilience characteristic of being 'decentralised, flexible and in touch with local realities' is reflected in the implementation approach of the Greening Darfur programme which always intended to support the networks to develop their own capacities to implement programmes, conduct monitoring visits, and link with service providers. It is anticipated that because of this, the networks are highly likely to remain effective within the communities by being able to seek funding for the development plans they have devised themselves, beyond the life of the Greening Darfur programme (Practical Action, 2009b: 4).

#### 5.3. Resilience characteristic 3 - acceptance of uncertainty and change

The inevitable existence of uncertainty and change is accepted. The non-linearity or randomness of events in a system is acknowledged, which shifts policy from an attempt to control change and create stability to managing the capacity of systems to cope with, adapt to, and shape change.

The Greening Darfur programme does not demonstrate effective examples of the third resilience characteristic. In partl, because of the nature of the programme and partly because of the context itself. That said, simply investing in livelihood sustainability is significant because, through this, Greening Darfur is building the capacity of individuals to create sustainability and cope with change. This is in contrast with the widespread focus on short-term food aid within El Fashir. This is not to suggest that humanitarian response to immediate human needs is not in demand or should not be delivered; the point is simply to recognise that, where it is possible, investing in potentially more sustainable solutions to the challenge of food security is favourable.

The efforts of the Greening Darfur programme to increase access to water for a variety of uses can also be understood as contributing to building the capacity of the system to cope with and adapt to change. By the end of the programme, 900 crescent-shaped terraces were constructed, accompanied by communities and extension agents trained in construction, layout, levelling and drainage control, leading to increased food production and reduced pressure on rangelands (Practical Action, 2010d: 7). The terraces were built to embrace a dynamic environment and variety of scenarios; not only did they help improve land productivity by 200 per cent in general, but even when there was drought they delivered a tangible benefit by securing crop yields at near average levels (Practical Action, 2010d: 7).

#### 5.4. Resilience characteristic 4 - community involvement and local knowledge

There is community involvement and the appropriation of local knowledge in any resiliencebuilding projects; communities enjoy ownership of natural resources; communities have a voice in relevant policy processes.

The fourth characteristic of resilience reflects the strengths of the Greening Darfur programme which include supporting community involvement and generating community ownership of the natural resources through the programme's activities. This is evidenced by the focus on building local-level capacity to form VDCs, CBOs and networks which are responsible for effectively managing natural resources; the allocation of seats within the Programme Management Committee which allows the networks to represent community views; and supporting the networks to devise their own strategic plans and funding proposals.

The programme has also effectively demonstrated 'the appropriation of local knowledge'. For example, at the local level, communities themselves have been responsible for the oversight of programme activities associated with natural resource management, including activities aimed at vegetation regeneration, rangeland rehabilitation and pastures management (Practical Action, 2010d: 10). One of the processes involved supporting local leaders to enact traditional local forest laws associated with restricting animal grazing in order to protect the designated areas (Practical Action, 2009b:11). Also, local forest guards from the beneficiary communities were identified to act as guardians for the community forests.

The historical relationship between the Darfurian communities' local knowledge and natural resource management provides a rich resource that has been effectively tapped into for the benefit of the community, environmental sustainability and the programme. Moreover, it is only through the positive engagement of local leaders and forest guards that the activities aimed at environmental regeneration have been able to take place.

The latter part of the fourth resilience characteristic refers to communities having a voice in policy processes. The complexities and politics of the local governance situation in Darfur mean that efforts towards encouraging stronger community voice in formal policy processes are difficult and strained. However, as mentioned above, the programme networks have agreed that an umbrella forum is needed to create a lobbying body able to advocate on behalf of communities.

#### 5.5. Resilience characteristic 5 - preparedness and redundancy

Preparedness activities aim not at resisting change but preparing to live with it; this could be by building in redundancy within systems (when partial failure does not lead to the system collapsing) or by incorporating failure scenarios in Disaster Management plans.

The fifth characteristic of resilience raises a number of challenges for understanding 'redundancy' within conflict affected areas. For many, there is little redundancy within the system; the system is stretched to breaking point on a daily basis, choices are limited and vulnerability is high. However, the core message of the fifth resilience characteristic, that you cannot resist change, could be a useful unifying concept which could ignite discussion across the disaster risk reduction, climate change and conflict and development communities of practice.

An example of an intervention that could loosely be regarded as building redundancy into the system is the efforts to build links between the Ministry of Agriculture and the Village Extension Agents. This has included activities to support Village Extension Agents to become trained in helping their communities identify pests, diagnose animal diseases and access information related to animal welfare (Practical Action, 2009b: 7). Through this initiative, the agents have been able to establish a process whereby a group of reliable sources are able to identify and manage the threat of pests before risk of spreading. This has meant that a system is in place to prevent widespread crop and animal loss (Practical Action, 2010d: 7): rather than focusing on reactive responses, the system seeks to encourage preventative, early action, in order to minimise the possible damage caused.

Another example of the way Greening Darfur can be understood to integrate the notion of redundancy is through the development of safety nets. For example, the establishment of three community seed stores provides community members access to seeds which have been stored safely, should livelihoods be damaged by a disaster (Practical Action, 2010c: 7).

Although the Greening Darfur programme doesn't explicitly frame any of its activities as disaster risk reduction, many of the activities Practical Action are undertaking in Darfur can be seen to contribute in some way to reducing the disaster risk of drought by improving food security and access to water supply. This has been achieved through significant progress in rehabilitating wells and improving water storage. However, failing to explicitly consider risk reduction may account for the failure to prepare for the floods that occurred during the third quarter of year two programming: the 'inevitability of uncertainty' (resilience characteristic 3) is thus always present. An unprecedented amount of rainfall resulted in floods that were four to five times more than in previous years as well as flooding in areas that had never experienced floods before. Flood damage in and around the project area caused loss of assets, animals, crops and houses (Practical Action, 2010c: 1).

#### 5.6. Resilience characteristic 6 - equitable systems

A high degree of social and economic equity exists in systems; resilience programmes consider issues of justice and equity when distributing risks within communities.

To the extent it was possible, the Greening Darfur programme sought to reduce risks within the beneficiary communities in a fair and equitable manner. For example, in the construction of the crescent-shaped terraces, Practical Action recognised that the poorest households would require financial support to purchase the correct tools in order to be able to construct the terraces. The programme thus provided subsidies for the tools. In addition, 900 sets of agricultural hand tools were distributed and shared on a revolving basis between farmer families and female-headed households (Practical Action, 2010d: 7).

The programme also recognised the specific pressures that water scarcity puts on women and female-headed households. For example, the demand on women's labour increases as a result of the limited water recharge because of groundwater extraction. This has meant that women are forced to travel longer distances in order to access water. In an attempt to address this, Greening Darfur, in conjunction with the National Water Cooperation and the Water and Sanitation Department, rehabilitated two hand-dug wells, six shallow wells and six hand pumps, providing near year-round water to approximately 7,000 people and animals (Practical Action, 2010d: 8).

Similarly, in an attempt to enhance social and economic equity, purchases of donkey-drawn carts were made to support 50 rural families, 50 per cent of whom are female-headed, to gain access to the drinkable water. The collection of water, firewood and fodder is the burden of women and children. Having access to the carts has not only relieved some of the burden of daily water collection, it has also enabled better links between the farms and markets. Depending on the season, the average income from hiring a cart increased by between 30 and 150 SDG (Practical Action, 2010d: 8).

The Greening Darfur programme also sought to encourage equitable systems of governance within the VDCs, CBOs and the networks. Initially the networks, with Practical Action's support, undertook orientations with the VDCs in 31 of the targeted villages to learn how to properly form a CBO, or reform existing CBOs. Practical Action also advised on the proper formation of the VDCs. Suggested criteria included:

- fair representation of women (not less than 40 per cent recommended)
- restructuring of the VDCs to ensure sub-village representation
- segregating the roles of the VDC chairman and committee
- encouraging a formal registration process
- establishing network and constitutional rules (Practical Action, 2009b: 6).

By the end of year one, the majority of VDCs had followed the recommendations made by the Programme Management Committee, including specifically the criteria of no less than 40 per cent female representation (Practical Action, 2009b: 6). The programme also took great strides towards ensuring women's views were heard and acted upon. Through separate discussions

with women it was recognised that the women wanted a separate society to represent their views. In two villages, women's associations were established by the women independently. Despite wanting to ensure there was appropriate space for their representation, Practical Action were wary of the drawbacks of having separate women's groups which could lead to an 'artificial disaggregation of institutions and subsequent support' (Practical Action, 2009b: 6).

Greening Darfur's activities to promote more equitable governance systems within the VDCs, CBOs and networks, as described above, are not simply a matter of wanting equitable operations. It is hoped that using the entry point of the 'proper' formation of organisations will help to provide greater space for women's views and priorities to be heard within communities, which may have a positive effect on social relations more broadly.

#### 5.7. Resilience characteristic 7- social values and structures

The importance of social values and structures is acknowledged because association between individuals can have a positive impact on cooperation in a community which may lead to more equal access to natural resources and greater resilience; it may also bring down transaction costs as agreements between community members would be honoured.

The seventh resilience characteristic speaks in particular to Practical Action's efforts to integrate consensus building approaches into the Greening Darfur programme. The specific approach adopted is their Participatory Action Plan Development (PAPD). The PAPD was developed over the past nine years in a variety of countries, for use in identifying and solving problems associated with environmental or livelihood tensions. The PAPD approach uses community participation to resolve issues by building local consensus and developing local action plans (PAPD, 2010). The approach emphasises positive cooperation between communities through equal access to natural resources. The approach also recognises that social values and structures will be bound up with formal and informal institutions, and these in turn will affect the outcome of negotiations, conflict resolution and local decision making (PAPD, 2010: 16-17).

Practical Action applied their PAPD approach to a local level conflict between the Abudegaise and Dala village where the construction of the Abudegaise dam inhibited the downstream Dalal community from accessing water for two successive rainy seasons (Practical Action, 2009b: 8). The PAPD approach was communicated during a five day workshop with 31 representatives from various VDCs, networks and local officers, accompanied by two field visits to the Abudegaise dam site. Through two days of community meetings the consensus building approach was successfully applied. Its success lies in the will and commitment of the communities to engage with the approach, build in traditional (Gudeia) agreements and honour the agreements. By the end of the process a consensus had been reached on possible solutions, and most importantly there was a change in the attitudes of the parties involved, who then sought a solution, verified by a verbal agreement (Practical Action, 2009b: 8). The PAPD approach was also successfully used to resolve a number of other disputes: between two VDCs regarding access to a hafir<sup>7</sup> and water pond; a local dispute over the distribution of food relief; by networks in other areas involved in the rehabilitation and construction of water sources (Practical Action, 2009b: 8); over concerns that a committee was being dominated by one village at the expense of others (Practical Action, 2010a: 9); addressing a dispute over the location of a community nursery; and conflict over the subdivision of a village council into two councils (Practical Action, 2010b: 6).

Practical Action's adoption of the PAPD approach reflects their recognition of the fact that conventional technical projects will inevitably experience tremendous difficulties in a conflict context. The context will force to the surface and provide an outlet for localised resentments over unequal distribution of resources, which may otherwise remain hidden. The deployment of resources in any NGO intervention inevitably tends to be uneven and if this is not well handled through dialogue mechanisms, such as PAPD, can increase tensions or create new ones within and between communities<sup>8</sup>.

In the context of a changing climate, where it is expected that the availability of natural resources will become increasingly scarce in some contexts, the integration of consensus building approaches into interventions aimed at sustainable livelihoods will become increasingly important; not only for achieving the programme's immediate goals, but for laying the foundations for longer lasting processes which can be employed to manage contested or

<sup>7</sup>The 'hafir' is the local name in Sudan for water reservoir. The hafir is a hollow dug in the ground designed to store water runoff after a rainy season, the hafir is usually used in semi arid regions where rainfall is annual but over short periods and storage is required for the rest of the year'. http://practicalaction.org/ practicalanswers/product\_info. php?products\_id=66 (accessed 3 October 2011)

<sup>8</sup>Email conversations with Stuart Coupe, Practical Action. November 2011 diminishing resources.

#### 5.8. Resilience characteristic 8 - non-equilibrium dynamics

The non-equilibrium dynamics of a system are acknowledged. Any approach to building resilience should not work with an idea of restoring equilibrium because systems do not have a stable state to which they should return after a disturbance.

An example of resilience characteristic number eight is the recognition by Greening Darfur that there is an increasingly changing climate with high variability in temperature and rainfall which is impacting on the feasibility of producing crops and ensuring food security. The innovative seed exchange and storage system established as part of the programme is an illustration of accepting non-equilibrium of a system. In recognition of the changing climate and the need to improve, adapt and build the capacity of the farmers to adjust their farming practices, three community seed stores were established and a seed fair organised (Practical Action, 2010c: 7). The seed storage system enables farmers to access a range of crops and vegetable seeds for production throughout the year. The seed fair was organised by the networks, the Ministry of Agriculture and the El Fashir Research Centre (discussed further under resilience characteristic 9). The fair provided farmers with access to new crop genes as well as ideas for sustainable production (Practical Action, 2010d: 9).

The acknowledgement of non-equilibrium is particularly pertinent in difficult environments, where the changing conflict dynamics mean that any context is continuously in flux. An understanding of resilience which accepts this state of flux is particularly relevant as it is a fallacy to assume a previously stable 'pre-conflict' state can be recreated. Systems cannot be returned to a previous state and in many contexts the 'pre-conflict' state is not even desirable.

#### 5.9. Resilience characteristic 9 - continual and effective learning

Continual and effective learning is important. This may take the form of iterative policy/institutional processes, organisational learning, reflective practice, adaptive management and may merge with the concept of adaptive capacity.

Elements of the ninth resilience characteristic are present within Greening Darfur. First, a seed fair was organised which was specifically geared towards learning, sharing and the exchange of knowledge between farmers and beneficiaries. Second, as part of the funding requirements and good development practice, the programme underwent regular monitoring and evaluation and invited external researchers to review the programme.

The emphasis on learning and sharing was effectively illustrated in the organisation of the seed fair. The fair allowed farmers to access a range of fruit and vegetable seeds and provided space for learning and sharing of ideas. Farmers were able to access local knowledge relating to local crops suitable to the current climate and learn from researchers from the El Fashir Research Centre, thus bridging the knowledge gap between scientists and farmers. The initiative brought together different communities of practice and enabled individuals access to knowledge and experience associated with producing different crops under different conditions (Practical Action, 2010d: 9).

The second example of 'continual and effective learning' is the organisational learning processes adopted by Practical Action. In an attempt to ensure the learning from the programme can be utilised elsewhere, Greening Darfur hosted a conference in El Fashir at the end of the programme to share their learning, findings and experiences of implementing activities geared as improving food security, planning approaches, environmental regeneration and empowering civil society (Practical Action, 2011). The programme approach has also been shared widely by members of Practical Action in Sudan and in the UK. Reviews of the programme have resulted in grey literature, all serving to expand the awareness of the programme beyond the immediate project staff (this publication, also see Jaspars, 2010). The extent to which this constitutes 'continual and effective learning' is questionable, without institutionalised learning loops (discussed further in section 6).

#### 5.10. Resilience characteristic 10 - cross-scalar perspectices

Resilient systems take a cross-scalar perspective of events and occurrences. Resilience is built

through social, political, economic and cultural networks that reach from the local to the global scale.

In the Greening Darfur context, examples of cross-scalar perspectives are demonstrated through the various scales at which the development agencies work, from village to national to international level. For example, the experience and learning from the programme has been translated and applied to other geographical areas through the networks gaining access to other funds and working in areas beyond the Greening Darfur programme sites. Similarly, the learning processes employed by Practical Action and their partners and donors, including Christian Aid, have informed the development of subsequent programmes in other regions. Greening Darfur has generated local knowledge that can be fed into international discussions and policy processes (and this paper serves as one illustration). Similarly, it was through Greening Darfur that international organisations such as Practical Action, and their partners such as Christian Aid, were connected to local issues in Darfur. An exchange thus took place with ideas and tools from the international level being transferred to Darfur and contextualised local information being channelled back to inform organisational development and learning.

In the context of Darfur (and indeed much of Sudan), the disconnect between processes that contribute towards building a resilient system, be they conflict resolution, climate change adaptation or disaster risk reduction, remain somewhat fractured between scales. Take climate change for example. International processes associated with the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and national initiatives such as the National Adaptation Plans of Action (NAPA), are largely disconnected from action at the local level. Similarly, formal conflict resolution mechanisms between selected factions in the conflict in Darfur are totally disconnected from local-level conflict resolution mechanisms, or indeed local realities.

This section of the paper has sought to identify how the activities implemented as part of the Greening Darfur programme are contributing to each of the ten characteristics of resilience. It is clear, and of course natural, that the programme relates to some characteristics more than others. For example, the programme strongly supports resilience characteristics associated with effective governance and institutions (resilience characteristic 2) community involvement and local knowledge (characteristic 4) and social values and structures (characteristic 7). These characteristics relate to the strengths of the programme: to build the capacity of local communities and organisations; to value and build upon local knowledge; to support good governance and decentralised decision-making processes; to encourage local natural resource management; to establish processes for equal access to natural resources; and to support informal community-based mechanisms for resource sharing.

The next logical question to ask is whether there are any aspects of resilience missing in the programme. The intention is not to try and identify everything that the Greening Darfur programme does not cover but to identify ideas and opportunities that could strengthen the efforts towards building resilience in the future. After all, resilience is not just about doing business as usual, or reframing what we already do under the banner of 'resilience'; it is about doing something more, something different.

# 6. How can Greening Darfur further build resilience?

Outlined below are five examples of areas that could be strengthened within the Greening Darfur programme, or taken into consideration in future work in order to align with the resilience characteristics. The examples are illustrative and necessarily contained, given the challenges that the operational environment presents to programme implementation. There is an unavoidable tension in the methodology of selecting programme activities that seem to demonstrate aspects of each of the ten resilience characteristics, because the characteristics are in many cases remarkably broad and contain many different elements. Section 7 takes a closer look at these and other possible limitations of the ten characteristics of resilience.

**Strengthen resilience characteristic 2** - effective governance and institutions - by building capacity to go beyond having the ability to access 'easy money'. The skills and training needed for organisational management are one way to build local capacity to pursue decentralised development programmes (by placing more capacity at the local level), however in order

to really utilise people's full potential Greening Darfur needs to go beyond this. To be truly sustainable the programme needs to look beyond enabling the networks to access programme funding and 'easy money' (e.g. through NGOs and the United Nations), to look for new donors who could also help mobilise local people, for example by providing a role for local businesses. One of the limitations of 'easy money' is that topics and issues shift with donor/development fashions and funding will typically be of a limited two to three year cycle. The networks' capacity needs to be built to access more sustainable funds, and to have the ability to think beyond the accessibility of development funds.

**Strengthen resilience characteristic 4** - community involvement and local knowledge - by promoting integrated programming to avoid possible future challenges. An example of this could be linking the networks with water and sanitation groups. This would encourage more thorough thinking on how water is currently utilised to promote better environmental health. For example, by involving all water users activities could include the separation of animal and human access to water, better organisation around the use of water sources and the promotion of accompanying software activities (such as community sensitisation, capacity building, etc.). At present, communities do not prioritise issues of sanitation because there is sufficient land available (for some communities). Thinking longer term and taking into account the possibility of further floods, more consideration of the impact of sanitation is required, such as how to effectively use the water for personal hygiene, and how to safely store drinking water. Promoting water and sanitation as a package of skills and capacity would also have the potential to bring in more technical resources through other agencies (e.g. World Health Organization).

**Strengthen resilience characteristic 5** - preparedness and redundancy - by integrating climate information. Many of the activities undertaken as part of the Greening Darfur programme can be seen to contribute towards building adaptive capacity and adapting to climate change. However, we need to be wary of the distinction between activities seeking to address existing challenges which may be associated with a changing climate and 'climate change adaptation'. One difference is the emphasis placed on looking forward to future climatic changes and whether there is systematic incorporation of seasonal forecasts and long term projections. While recognising that access to, and availability of, climate data may be limited in conflict affected areas, there is a need to build on traditional ways of interpreting the climate and link together different types of information to make our knowledge stronger. This should happen anyway, not just where meteorological information is lacking. Community focus group discussions revealed that there is an appetite for more information about climate change and its relationship with other factors (such as natural resource management, water and environment) and the possible impacts on people's livelihoods<sup>9</sup>.

**Strengthen resilience characteristic 6** - equitable systems - by diversifying partnerships for sustainability. The type of partnerships encouraged by the programme are narrowly defined and often focused around a somewhat limited objective of accessing funds. Whilst recognising that funds can lead to other opportunities, it would be beneficial to diversify partnerships to include those who have access to people on the ground, such as the pastoralist and farmers unions, to compliment the usual partnerships of government and NGOs. Forging local partnerships could have a dual role of supporting activities and advocacy. This could also enable pressure to be put on the government around certain advocacy issues, a role that the unions already play, being in the political space with a strong voice.

**Strengthen resilience characteristic 9** - continual and effective learning - by reinforcing mechanisms and processes for learning. There remains a need for an organisation-wide learning mechanism that is central, systematically updated and improved, and used by all projects. Although individual projects include some degree of monitoring and evaluation, there fails to be a consistent monitoring and evaluation framework for the organisation as a whole which emphasises the aim of learning rather than procedurally tracking progress. Moreover, although learning is to some degree informally shared through discussions, institutional memory rests with individuals. Formal processes for learning could help encourage thinking on how different aspects of the organisation's work are linking together.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>9</sup>Umzoar Village Development Committee, interview (25th May 2011)

<sup>10</sup> For example, see Silva-Villanueva (2011)

## 7. Resilience in practice - issues for consideration

Applying Bahadur et al.'s (2010) ten characteristics of resilience raises a number of practical and theoretical challenges. For example, there is no weighting or sequencing to the characteristics. While it would be logical to assume that the entry point to the characteristics, and perhaps even which characteristics are taken up, is highly context specific, when applying them to a practical case study questions arise such as how many characteristics are needed to undertake a 'resilient' programme and to what extent does a characteristic need to be fulfilled (bearing in mind that each characteristic has many parts)? Further questions are: how many interconnections are needed to build resilience; are they all equal, or are some of them 'connector nodes'; are some characteristics more important than others; are some preconditions to others, or are they all entry points into the same goal?<sup>11</sup>

There is also a danger of trying to 'achieve' resilience by using the ten characteristics as a kind of 'resilience checklist'. This not only underplays the complexity and nuances of the characteristics but also undermines the concept of resilience itself; in the sense that resilience is about thinking differently, more holistically and informed by systems thinking. Each characteristic of resilience is therefore perhaps better understood as having many strands which may be progressed along at different rates. A characteristic can never be 'ticked' as being achieved; there will always be room for improvement.

Another challenge in applying the characteristics is also, ironically, part of their strength; that they draw on many different disciplinary understandings of the term resilience. However, some aspects of the characteristics are rooted in non-social science disciplines such as ecology and may be less applicable to social systems. Take for example the first part of resilience characteristic 1, 'A high level of diversity in groups performing different functions in an ecosystem' (Bahadur et al., 2010: 2) and ask what does this mean for a rights-based gender equity programme? Should an organisation be seeking to address each component of the characteristics, or can they pick and choose? If they pick and choosing is being selective and therefore not addressing the system as a whole? This relates back to the previous point about how much of the characteristic needs to be achieved. Or in other words, how many interconnections are needed to achieve 'resilience'?

Another challenge is the lack of influence of disciplines such as political economy. With the exception of the references to social and economic equity and justice within characteristic 6, there is very little mention of power (in fact the word does not appear). This could lead readers to assume that resilience is in some way apolitical. Adopting an understanding of disasters as socially constructed (meaning that a disaster is the product of a combination of factors including a natural hazard as well as differing levels of exposure, risk and vulnerability) renders the lack of centrality of power a major limitation, theoretically and practically (Blaikie et al., 1994).

The points made so far also highlight, and in some respects could be addressed by, the question of 'resilience for what'? As a development NGO or research institute that works to eradicate poverty, promote equity and address the conditions of vulnerability, this may seem obvious. But working in a multidisciplinary arena calls our assumptions into question. Establishing what you want to build resilience for will in part help towards understanding how to use the characteristics of resilience in ways that are helpful. This would also help answer some of the questions raised within this section.

Working out what resilience means in practice is part of a much bigger question than a single paper can hope to resolve. What can be said at this stage in our learning is that there are some clear points for consideration in understanding resilience that should be relevant to policy makers and practitioners alike. Outlined below are points for consideration that draw on learning from Practical Action's attempts to bring together different sectors in order to undertake more holistic programming, as well as learning, experience and lessons from the Strengthening Climate Resilience programme more broadly. These points raise important questions that need to be considered by donors, policy makers and practitioners promoting the agenda to refocus development through the lens of 'building resilience'.

<sup>11</sup>Sara Wolcott, independent researcher – through email conversations, October 2011

# 8. 'Building resilience' – points to consider for policy makers and practitioners

#### 8.1. Programming and funding

- Is funding a constraint for 'resilience programming'? The funding Greening Darfur received from partners such as Christian Aid allowed for bottom-up flexibility and community-led processes that characterised many of the strengths of the programme<sup>12</sup>. The programme model was possible in part because of the funding and willingness of the partners and donors to deliver the programme as has been described. However, current funding streams are primarily orientated around separate issues, such as climate change, disaster risk reduction, livelihoods, etc. More donor support is needed to invest in programmes that seek to build resilience, supported by research to identify and analyse the added-value, tensions, trade-offs and best practice of such programmes. Current funding mechanisms offer limited opportunity to develop 'resilient programming'. That said, this very much depends on your understanding of resilience, whether integration is a means to achieve resilience, as well as the extent to which this requires going beyond the linking of similar sectors. To truly think through what a resilient programme may look like requires cross-specialism learning, planning and implementation. It will necessarily involve 'trial and error' and employing new ways of working that require an initial investment of time. It is necessary therefore to question the extent to which this is really happening within programmes currently labelled as 'building resilience' and to provide more investment in areas where aspects of resilience are missing.
- Is 'resilience programming' more efficient and/or more effective? It is often assumed that 'building resilience' is a way for programmes to become more efficient and/or more effective (which is often a reflection of donor concerns about reducing expenditure). The experience of Greening Darfur and the Strengthening Climate Resilience programme indicates that integrated programming is a means to build resilience, even if only a few sectors are included. However, programmes that bring together lots of sectors are not necessarily cost saving in financial terms, at least in the short term. One reason for this is because initial overheads may be costly, for example the costs of bringing different sectors together to participate in devising comprehensive integrated programmes. Over the longer term it is anticipated that integrated programming would be more effective as organisational culture would change individuals' ways of thinking and working, becoming instinctively more holistic in their approach. More research is needed to validate these points and develop an evidence base for the short to long term cost and effectiveness implications of integrated programming.

#### 8.2. Organisational structure and mandate

- Are organisational mandates acting as a barrier? Many organisations don't see certain sectors or issues as part of their mandate. If resilience is about more holistic programming, how can organisations be convinced to invest time to appreciate the relevance of existing communities of practice, such as disaster risk reduction or natural resource management, or link with others who do have the mandate and expertise to cover the issues they don't?
- Does climate change provide an opportunity to challenge sectoral working? If an organisation has a project specifically looking at climate change, there is a tendency to regard this as the climate change contribution. There often fails to be adequate appreciation (or will) to invest in considering climate change as 'game changing' and there remains a tendency to see climate change as a distinct specialism with a designated individual responsible for it. This is neither effective nor sustainable; it reinforces silos and sectoral ways of working. There is scope to think more creatively about the capacities of existing staff (enhanced through training) and about the added-value that using a climate lens can bring to the sustainability of a programme.

#### 8.3. Sectoral challenges and 'good development'

Can resilience help build cross-sectoral relationships? Attempts to build resilience

<sup>12</sup>No Small Change (Abugre and Valentin, 2007) outlines Christian Aid's understanding of how change happens and guided their approach to partnering with Practical Action. This includes the importance of leverage and how the flexible approach to funding and programme work can enable partners to seek diverse alternative sources of funding and therefore be more flexible. through integrated programming could provide NGOs, departments and project teams with the opportunity to develop cross-sectoral learning. Cross-sectoral working breaks down false boundaries and silos and changes the nature of working relations; themes and sectors are viewed as complimentary and teams work together regardless of their specialisation. Despite this, the thinking (and practice) of integrated programming occurs in some project areas more than others. For example, where it is difficult to differentiate between livelihoods and natural resource management the two areas are more likely to be linked (e.g. through water management, environmental sustainability and food security). In this way, building resilience through integrated programming is commonsensical; interconnected sectors must work together. More research is needed to establish what constitutes integrated programming. How many interconnections are required to effectively build resilience? How varied should the sectors be that are brought together? To what extent can you contribute to building resilience within a single sector?

• Distinguishing between building resilience and general principles for good development. There is often a misconception that building resilience simply means having effectively sequenced software and hardware, or being truly inclusive of all affected stakeholders. Whilst important, these are in fact facets of good development and should not be conflated with building resilience because they don't go far enough towards addressing each of the ten characteristics of resilience. Building resilience is more than working in parallel with other programmes or activities; it is about consciously taking into account the way one set of interventions relate to another, i.e. their complimentarily and/ or trade-offs, in order to make informed decisions that work towards achieving the ten resilience characteristics. There is a need for further research to build an evidence base that demonstrates 'building resilience' as distinct from 'doing better development '(which is still, in effect, business as usual).

## 9. Conclusion

The conclusion presented here is not a summary of the paper but a consideration of three themes running through the paper: the resilience characteristics; the position that the resilience agenda does not negate the need to take seriously the role of power; and the role of climate change.

#### 9.1. Resilience characteristics

This paper has demonstrated that in committing to a concrete definition of the term resilience and exploring its relevance in relation to a specific intervention, it is possible to better understand how we can operationalise what has until now been a term confined to the conceptual realm in the development sector. Applying Bahadur et al.'s (2010) ten resilience characteristics to Practical Action's Greening Darfur programme is not without its limitations (discussed previously). Despite the limitations, this paper reveals that the concept of resilience has a lot to offer in terms of supporting more holistic thinking in ways that support the notion of interlocking resilient systems – reflecting the complex reality of the contexts in which interventions are undertaken. However, in order for the characteristics of resilience to be applicable and thus most helpful, they need to be contextualised and new ways of thinking and working must be developed. As this paper has sought to demonstrate, resilience is not simply what we do already - it is more than that.

The findings of the paper not only highlight the usefulness of the characteristics for operationalising resilience, but also how the characteristics help bring to the fore aspects of resilience that represent a break from the status quo, which require us to adopt new ways of working. These include: the inevitable existence of uncertainty and change is accepted (resilience characteristic 3); building redundancy within systems (characteristic 5); the non-equilibrium dynamics of a system are recognised (characteristic 8); and the importance of cross-scalar perspectives (characteristic 10). Although there is no space here to deal with each of these substantially, they are highlighted as characteristics of resilience that fundamentally challenge the way we currently do development. The emphasis on the inevitability of uncertainty and change and the non-linearity of events encourages systems that not only

acknowledge such qualities but embrace them and move away from attempts to control change. This requires a shift in our current project-based approaches, the log frame thinking and assumption that we can know and plan for change. The notion of not resisting change but building redundancy within a system to be able to deal with changing scenarios challenges the tendency to place weight on what conditions used to be like, and considers what is needed to shape future change (whilst recognising we cannot control change).

A good illustration of a resilience characteristic that challenges the way we currently undertake development interventions can be found in the acceptance of the 'non equilibrium' dynamics of a system and recognition that there is no stable state to return to after a disturbance. This requires building in the changes that disturbance creates as part of a continually evolving system. This also challenges the tendency to try and restore previous conditions when in fact new conditions have emerged. And finally, the importance of linking both scales and sectors is stressed: it will only be possible to contribute towards building a resilient system if the complex, multifaceted nature of that system is readily acknowledged.

# 9.2. Resilience within a coping deficit and recognition of power and politics

The whole notion of building resilience within communities affected by the challenges of disaster risk, climate change and poverty and vulnerability is likely to attract some criticism, not least because within many of the communities in places such as Darfur there is a significant coping deficit. As Osman-Elasha and Sanjak (2008: 244) found, '… in their [Darfurians] attempts to cope with climatic and other related stresses, people may adopt specific measures that further aggravate their vulnerabilities and undermine their productive assets, for example, through overexploiting their over-stressed natural resource base'. Similar conclusions were identified in the Greening Darfur concluding conference in relation to conflict: '…pressure on the natural asset base has fed into conflict dynamics in the region… conflict processes have precipitated maladaptive livelihood practices, further eroded the environment, and severely weakened established systems of resource governance' (Practical Action, 2011: 5).

What must be appreciated is the need to better recognise these coping deficits, the tradeoffs in implementing particular interventions and the need to better understand the interconnections between different challenges. It is not the intention to suggest that bad choices are being made by the vulnerable whose choices (if that term is even appropriate) are severely constrained. As Osman-Elasha and Sanjak (2008: 249) note in the case of Darfur, 'it becomes increasingly difficult for them [households] to decide between the few difficult alternatives'.

Resilience is a useful framing for bringing together the multiple shocks and stresses faced by communities in vulnerable conditions. As Keen (2008: 121) stresses in reference to Darfur, the 'lack of political clout of disaster victims' becomes even more significant when recognising that in conflict situations the ability to have voice is even more restricted. In short, 'If disaster victims lack political clout in peacetime, this is all the more applicable in wartime' (Keen, 2008: 122). These are the individuals that require the most sustained support and we must find innovative ways to enable resilience thinking to address these challenges. To continue with business as usual would be a wasted opportunity.

Our '...initial steps to reduce deleterious effects and vulnerability to climate change should focus on improving adaptation to current climate variability... to create adaptive capacities that can significantly improve existing socio-economic conditions for the people as well as enhancing their response to longer-term changes in local and regional climates' (Osman-Elasha, 2009: 3). In order for this to be possible, as Osman-Elasha (2009: 7) points out when speaking about Darfur, it is, '...the allocation of resources and the efficiency with which they are used and managed [that] are important for gaining insight on the region's vulnerability as well as on the role of natural resources in the conflict'. Thus as Campbell (2010: 8) states, '...the linking of climate change and conflict has refocused attention of some of the more fundamental challenges of development as it relates to power relations and the political economy'. This is nowhere more apparent than in the context of Darfur.

It has not been possible within this paper to explore the power and politics dimensions necessary for a full and thorough discussion on conflict and resilience – indeed, unpacking resilience in practice has only just been covered here. What is needed to further our understanding is a more detailed look at a) the political economy of conflict in relation to 'building resilience'; b) interventions managing disaster risk when it is not framed as that (e.g. it is framed as drought but not in conventional DRM terms); and c) what this (b) can contribute to, as well as learn from, existing disaster risk practice.

It was the intention of this paper to try to demonstrate how the concept of resilience can be used to keep the vulnerable at the centre of the frame. This approach contrasts with concerns that the concept of resilience could be undermining the concept of vulnerability (see Cannon and Muller-Mahn, 2010: 632-3). The whole premise of this paper is to explore the inter-linkages between different parts of a system, which must be taken into consideration in resilience thinking. In the case of Darfur, Nyukuri (2009: vi) illustrates this point:

"Many political sources of ecological conflict are mistaken for ecological sources, sometimes because of wilful obfuscation by those involved... But conflict systems, like ecological systems, are complex, ever-changing phenomena, so it is crucial to contextualize each conflict to properly identify the role of environmental issues such as climate change and its effects."

#### 9.3. What role for climate change?

Climate change is already happening. Therefore, because climate change is already a factor in the myriad inter-related dynamics at play within difficult environments such as Darfur, going forward our focus should not be on trying to unpack climate change causality (i.e. to what extent is climate change the cause of different shocks and stresses within a particular environment), but rather to ask how can the myriad institutions, agencies and interventions work towards development – enabling peace and security – in a changing climate? This requires much more holistic thinking that draws on the notion of resilient systems which recognise the dynamic inter-relationship between multiple parts. In very practical terms, this could involve building on the concept of 'accumulating knowledge'. Osman-Elasha and Sanjak (2008: 253), for example, stress the need to use accumulated knowledge generated by different initiatives that span the breadth of climate change adaptation, disaster risk reduction and poverty reduction.

There is already some concern that the adaptation community is not fully utilising the experience and expertise of the disasters community and it is important to ensure the same cannot be said for peace and security in conflict affected contexts. While recognising that context strongly dictates what is possible, there remains a tendency to overlook the potential of natural resource disputes, including those related to climate change, as a place for peace; what could be called 'adapting for peace' or 'peaceful adaptation'.<sup>13</sup> This is especially important when considering the experience already gained in applying conflict sensitive approaches to interventions of a range of sectors. As Betsy Hartmann (2007: 2) poignantly states in relation to the literature linking climate change and conflict, '...threat scenarios ignore the way many poorly resourced communities manage their affairs without recourse to violence'. She writes: 'above all, it is institutions and power structures at the local, regional, national and international levels that determine whether conflict over resources turns violent or not' (Hartmann, 2007: 3). In practical terms, this could mean understanding the relationship between climate change and conflict in ways that take into consideration natural resource management, livelihood options, security and justice mechanisms, as well as environmental vulnerability.<sup>14</sup> The ten characteristics of resilience provide a useful frame in which to bring these different challenges and sectors together.

> <sup>13</sup>Term coined by Sara Wolcott, as part of a desk based review for this paper

<sup>14</sup>Saferworld have begun to consider this, see Campbell (2010)

# References

Adger, N.; Lorenzoni, I. and O'Briend, K. (2009) Adapting to Climate Change: Thresholds, Values and Governance, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Abugre, C. and Valentin, P. (2007) No Small Change: Christian Aid's Understanding of How Change Happens', Christian Aid, UK

Brown, K. (2011) 'Rethinking Progress in a Warming World: Interrogating Climate Resilience Development', paper prepared for the 'Rethinking Development in an Age of Scarcity and Uncertainty: New Values, Voices and Alliances for Increased Resilience', EADI/DSA Conference, York, UK

Bahadur, A.; Ibrahim, M. and Tanner, T. (2010) The Resilience Renaissance? Unpacking of Resilience for Tackling Climate Change and Disasters, Strengthening Climate Resilience Discussion Paper 1, IDS, Brighton, UK

Blaikie, P.; Cannon, T.; Bavis, I. and Wisner, B. (1994) At Risk: Natural Hazards, People's Vulnerability and Disasters, Oxford: Routledge

Campbell, I. (2010) Climate Change and Conflict. A Framework for Analysis and Action, Saferworld Working Paper, Saferworld, London, UK

Cannon, T. and Muller-Mahn, D. (2010) 'Vulnerability, Resilience and Development Discourses in Context of Climate Change', Natural Hazards 55: 21-635

Conflict Sensitivity Consortium (2004) Conflict-Sensitive Approaches to Development, Humanitarian Assistance and Peacebuilding: A Resource Pack, available at http:// www.conflictsensitivity.org/publications/conflict-sensitiveapproaches-development-humanitarian-assistance-andpeacebuilding-res (accessed 24 November 2011)

Duffield, M. (2001) Global Governance and the New Wars: The Merging of Development and Security, London: Zed Books

DFID (2011) Humanitarian Emergency Response Review: UK Government Response, Department for International Development, UKaid, Crown Copyright

Ensor, J. (2011) Uncertain Futures: Adapting Development to a Changing Climate, Rugby: Practical Action Publishing

Flint, J. and De Waal, A. (2005) Darfur: A Short History of a Long War, African Arguments, London: Zed Books

Harris, K. (2011) Why People don't Behave as we would Expect: The Role of Emotions, Unrealistic Optimism and Previous Experience in Disaster Preparedness, Strengthening Climate Resilience Think Piece, IDS, Brighton, UK

Hartmann, B. (2007) 'Climate Refugees and Climate Conflict: Who's Taking the Heat for Global Warming?', paper delivered at the panel on Climate Change, 4S Annual Conference Montreal, Quebec, October 11, 2007

HERR (2011) Humanitarian Emergency Response Review, 28 March 2011, chaired by Lord (Paddy) Ashdown, available at http://www.dfid.gov.uk/Documents/publications1/HERR.pdf (accessed 24 November 2011)

Jaspars, S. (2010) Coping and Change in Protracted Conflict: The Role of Community Groups and Local Institutions in Addressing Food Insecurity and Threats to Livelihoods, ODI Humanitarian Policy Group Working Paper, Practical Action and Darfur Development and Reconstruction Agency, London, UK

Jones, L.; Jaspars, S.; Pavanello, S.; Ludi, E.; Slater, R.; Arnall, A.; Grist, N. and Mtisi, S. (2010) Responding to a Changing Climate: Exploring how Disaster Risk Reduction, Social Protection and Livelihoods Approaches Promote Features of Adaptive Capacity, ODI Working Paper 319, Overseas Development Institute, London, UK

Keen, D. (2008) Complex Emergencies, Cambridge: Polity Press

Osman-Elasha, B. (2009) 'Interactions of Climate Change and Ecological Conflicts in Sudan', in J. Wakhungu and E. Nyukuri (eds),Climate Change and Conflict in East and the Horn of Africa, Nairobi: African Centre for Technology Studies

Osman-Elasha, B. and Sanjak, E. (2008) 'Livelihoods and Drought in Sudan', in Leary, N., Conde, C., Kulkarni, J., Nyong, A. and Pulhin, J. (eds), Climate Change and Vulnerability, London: Earthscan, pp. 239-256

Mitchell, A. (2011) DRM applied to Insecure Context, briefing paper prepared for Action Contre la Faim paper Disaster Risk Management for Insecure Contexts, Mitchell, A. and Smith, E. (2011) ACF-International Briefing Paper, available at http:// www.actioncontrelafaim.org/fileadmin/contribution/8\_ publications/pdf/Ouvrages\_et\_fascicules\_techniques/Doc\_ transversaux/DRM\_for\_Insecure\_Contexts.pdf (accessed 24 November 2011)

Nelson, D.; Adger, W.N. and Brown, K. (2007) 'Adaptation

to Environmental Change: Contributions of a Resilience Framework', Annual Review of Environment and Resources 32: 395-419.

Nyukuri, E. (2009) 'Climate Change and Conflicts: An Overview', in J. Wakhungu and E. Nyukuri (eds), Climate Change and Conflicts in East And Horn of Africa, Nairobi: African Centre for Technology Studies, pp. vi-vii

PAPD (2010) Consensus Building with Participatory Action Plan Development: A Facilitators Guide, Rugby: Practical Action

Practical Action (2009a) Final Greening Darfur Programme logical framework, Practical Action El Fashir Field Office, Sudan

Practical Action (2009b) Greening Darfur Programme, Year 1 Annual Report, January – December 2009, Practical Action El Fashir Field Office, Sudan

Practical Action (2010a) Greening Darfur Programme, 1st Quarterly Report, Year 2, January-March 2010, Practical Action El Fashir Field Office, Sudan

Practical Action (2010b) Greening Darfur Programme, 2nd Quarterly Report, Year 2, April-June 2010, Practical Action El Fashir Field Office, Sudan

Practical Action (2010c) Greening Darfur Programme, 3rd Quarterly Report, Year 2, July-September 2010, Practical Action El Fashir Field Office, Sudan

Practical Action (2010d) Greening Darfur Programme Completion Report, January 2009 – December 2010, Practical Action El Fashir Field Office, Sudan

Practical Action (2011) The Greening Darfur Conference Report, Practical Action El Fashir Field Office, Sudan

Silva-Villanueva, P. (2011) Learning to ADAPT: Monitoring and Evaluation Approaches in Climate Change Adaptation and Disaster Risk Reduction - Challenges, Gaps and Ways Forward, Strengthening Climate Resilience Discussion Paper 9, IDS, Brighton, UK

## Annex 1

#### Programme description: the Greening Darfur programme

Practical Action began programming in Darfur in 1988. Known then as the Intermediate Technology Development Group they worked with Oxfam primarily on water harvesting and donkey ploughing. From 2002 onwards Practical Action worked independently on a broader range of livelihoods interventions, supported by organisations such as Christian Aid. In the late 1990s and in 2006 Practical Action established a range of CBOs. These CBOs later coalesced around three parent networks which became central to the Greening Darfur programme (Practical Action, 2011): the Village Development Committee Network (VDC-net), Women's Development Associations Network (WDA-net) and the Market Network (M-net) (from GD PA proposal Oct'08).

Building on longer term investment and experience in Darfur, the Greening Darfur programme was implemented from January 2009 to December 2010. The goal of the programme was to reduce poverty and local communities' vulnerability to environmental degradation and drought. Its purpose was to enable CSOs to shape and implement strategies for the rehabilitation and development of natural resources and livelihoods (Practical Action, 2009a). Key to the Practical Action approach is building the ability of Darfurians to improve their livelihoods through environmentally sensitive technologies to enhance food security, which in turn reduces vulnerability (Osman-Elasha and Sanjak, 2008: 252). Outlined below are the three broad outcomes of the Greening Darfur programme, followed by an extract of a discussion with the Village Development Committee (VDC) from Umzoar village.

#### **Greening Darfur programme outcomes**

The programme was implemented in a difficult working environment characterised by a volatile and fluctuating security situation, poor harvest seasons, 72.9 per cent food deficit in the region, increasing price of staple food, poor and erratic rainfall and pest infestation (Practical Action, 2009b: 2). Despite the challenges the Practical Action staff in the El Fashir field office managed to continue with field visits throughout the majority of the implementing period (Annual Report, 2009). The implementation was possible, in part, through the programme's consensus building methods which formed an important part of the implementation approach, discussed further later (PAPD, 2010). Outlined below are the three programme outcomes, along with the relevant activities, as documented in Practical Action's monitoring and evaluation reports and validated through field research.

# Outcome 1 - Civil society organisations have the capacity to lead the outreach and extension of successful social and technological practices among rural communities in North Darfur and neighbouring areas.

Outcome one involved building the capacity of the three networks, VDC-net, WDA-net and M-net in:

- Identifying their development priorities;
- Planning and implementing different programme activities;
- Accessing alternative funding sources to finance their priorities;
- Conducting joint monitoring visits;
- Linking with other service providers.

The activities outlined above all aim to build the capacity of the networks to represent the rural poor, develop their skills and input into policy processes. It is hoped that by building the networks' capacity they will also be able to remain effective within their communities, seek additional financial resources and thus provide sustained support to the rural populations.

VDC-net, WDA-net and M-net also undertook institutional capacity assessments, as did 33 newly established VDCs who were formed to increase the membership of the networks. A participatory capacity building plan was then developed and the gaps identified addressed through various activities. In addition, the 22 VDCs and the WDA-net undertook training on organisational development strategic planning and project management. Following the training strategic plans were developed and on the basis of this, proposals were submitted by the

networks to NGOs seeking future support. In support of this, 30 members from across the three networks received fundraising training to build their capacity to develop and write proposals for different donors. The financial competency of the three networks was also developed. This involved operationalising a simple financial system, undergoing training and monitoring performance on a monthly basis.

In addition, two training courses were held covering topics including forest protection, extension and horticulture, land use and soil conservation, attended by 58 Village Extension Agents from 33 villages. This was supported by refresher courses for 33 of the existing agents. An advanced training on crop production was also conducted for 31 agents. Finally, using Practical Action's Participatory Action Plan Development, communities were supported to identify and resolve problems related to natural resource use. This involved establishing joint resource access, management plans and agreeing on development priorities.

Outcome 2 - Rural communities have increased access to water for agriculture, livestock and potable use, leading to increases in food production and reducing pressures on rangelands. Outcome two included supporting the construction of rainwater harvesting on farmer fields in wadis. In an attempt to address the undermining of traditional coping mechanisms by successive drought cycles, Greening Darfur sought to improve soil terracing on the wadi soils which can secure crop yields at near average levels even in drought years. Activities included:

- Training communities and extension agents on construction, layout, levelling and controlled drainage techniques for the terrace designs;
- Constructing 900 crescent-shaped terraces;
- Subsidising the poorest households and villages with tools and revolving subsidies;
- Supporting 63 Village Extension Agents trained in outcome one to support terrace construction within the communities.

In addition, a study was undertaken to assess the environmental impacts of Practical Action's water harvesting projects, along with a technical and financial feasibility study for dam construction in the area. Together, the studies provided sufficient information to construct 14 mini dams. Rehabilitation and/or construction also took place for two hand-dug wells, six shallow wells, two hafirs and six hand pumps. It is anticipated that these benefited approximately 7,000 people and animals across 15 villages. To support the transportation of water, 50 donkey-drawn carts were also bought and distributed.

To further support food production, food security and local food generation, Greening Darfur supported the construction and management of three community seed stores in conjunction with organising the management, storage and exchange of crops and vegetables. This was strengthened by a seed fair organised by the three networks.

Finally, an end of programme conference was held to share the lessons, challenges and raise awareness of the programme to other stakeholders within Darfur. 130 attendees represented a broad spectrum of stakeholders in Darfur. Amongst other things, the conference aimed to:

- 'Promote the integrated technical and civil society development approach utilised during the project;
- Draw attention to approaches used for rural development and resource management, in a protracted conflict environment; and
- Generate recommendations for long-term sustainable development and poverty reduction in Darfur' (Practical Action, 2010d: 9).

# Outcome 3 – Regenerate natural resource management systems for sustainable human and livestock use and improve the efficiency and effectiveness of human exploitation of environmental resources.

Outcome three builds on the longer-term investment by Practical Action in supporting local communities to conserve the environment. This investment has included activities to support terrace construction, community forests, shelter belts, rangeland regeneration and vegetation regeneration (Practical Action, 2010d: 9). Activities within Greening Darfur included:

• Hosting ten environmental awareness sessions and training 63 community members on tree seeding production and transplantation;

- Establishing four community nurseries;
- Producing and transplanting approximately 210,000 tree seedlings of various different types;
- Establishing 11 community forests.

In addition, 'pastures management' training was undertaken with 150 community members to raise awareness of rangeland rehabilitation and the importance of reserve areas. Supporting this was the development of three campaigns which supported new pasture areas and the opening of 370km of fire lines.

Strengthening Climate Resilience (SCR) through Climate Smart Disaster Risk Management, is funded by the UK Department for International Development (DFID) and aims to enhance the ability of developing country governments and civil society organisations to build the resilience of communities to disasters and climate change. It is coordinated by the UK Institute of Development Studies, Plan International and Christian Aid, who are working with a variety of organisations across ten countries (Kenya, Tanzania and Sudan in East Africa; Nepal, India, Bangladesh and Sri Lanka in South Asia and Philippines, Indonesia and Cambodia in South East Asia). SCR has developed the Climate Smart Disaster Risk Management Approach. If you would like to be involved in SCR meetings or work with the programme to trial the Climate Smart Disaster Risk Management Approach with your organisation, please either visit the SCR website www.csdrm.org or email info@csdrm.org.

#### Acknowledgements

The Strengthening Climate Resilience (SCR) consortium would like to thank all those who have contributed to this publication. Special thanks go to Afaf Yahya (in-country researcher), Sara Wolcott (independent researcher), Mohamed Siddiq Muliman (Practical Action Sudan), Mohamed Ali and Robert Hayward (Christian Aid Sudan), Maurice Onyango and Eston Njuki (Christian Aid East Africa Regional Office). Thanks also go to the reviewers, Ben Ramalingam (independent researcher/ODI Research Associate) Aditya Bahadur (IDS) and Jon Ensor (Practical Action) and the copy editor Marion Clarke (IDS). Many thanks also go to the Practical Action staff of the Khartoum office and El Fashir field office, including Mohamed Majzoub, Liam Morgan, Hatim Wadhamed, Thuraya Elhassan, Hashim Eltayeb, Siham Mohamed Osman, Awadallah Ahmed Hamid, Salah Idris, Siddig Yousef, Ahmed Lazga. Thanks also go to UK support including Fran Seballos and Terry Cannon (IDS), Maggie Ibrahim (Practical Action), Katherine Nightingale and Sarah Moss (Christian Aid).

Very special thanks also go to the three Networks: the Village Development Committee Network (VDC-net), Women's Development Associations Network (WDA-net) and the Market Network (M-net) as well as the Umzoar Village Development Committee, Darfur.

First published by the Institute of Development Studies in December 2011  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  Institute of Development Studies 2011

All rights reserved. Reproduction, copy, transmission, or translation of any part of this publication may be made only under the following conditions:

- with the prior permission of the publisher; or
- under the terms set out below.

This publication is copyright, but may be reproduced by any method without fee for teaching or non-profit purposes, but not for resale. Formal permission is required for all such uses, but normally will be granted immediately. For copying in any other circumstances, or for re-use in other publications, or for translation or adaptation, prior written permission must be obtained from the publisher and a fee may be payable.

This publication is part of the Strengthening Climate Resilience Discussion Series, which aims to elaborate concepts and application of the Climate Smart Disaster Risk Management approach. All papers are available free to download through the Strengthening Climate Resilience (SCR) website: www.csdrm.org

The Resilience Renaissance? Unpacking of Resilience for Tackling Climate Change and Disasters. Bahadur, A.; Ibrahim,

Assessing Progress on Integrating Disaster Risk Reduction Mitchell, T., Van Aalst, M. and Silva Villanueva, P. (2010) Strengthening Climate Resilience Discussion Paper 2, Brighton:

Greening Disaster Risk Management: Issues at the Interface of Disaster Risk Management and Low Carbon Development. Urban, F. and Mitchell, T. (2010) Strengthening Climate Resilience Discussion Paper 3, Brighton: IDS

Integrating Climate Change into Regional Disaster Risk Management at the Mekong River Commission. Polack, E. (2010) Strengthening Climate Resilience Discussion Paper 4.

Building Climate Resilience at State Level: DRM and Rural Livelihoods in Orissa. Hedger, M., Singha, A. and Reddy, M. (2010) Strengthening Climate Resilience Discussion Paper 5,

Climate Resilience Discussion Paper 6, Brighton: IDS

Climate change, disasters and electricity generation, Dr. Frauke Urban and Dr. Tom Mitchell, SCR Discussion Paper 8, Brighton:

Learning to ADAPT: monitoring and evaluation approaches in climate change adaptation and disaster risk reduction — challenges, gaps and ways forward, Silva Villanueva, P., SCR



Katie Harris **Brighton BN1 9RE UK** T: +44 (0)1273 606261 email: scr@ids.ac.uk



Katherine Nightingale London SE1 7RL T: +44 (0) 207 523 2145 email: knightingale@christian-aid.org

Kelly Hawrylyshyn **Plan International** London EC1V 9LH T: +(44) 20 7482 9777 email: Kelly.Hawrylyshyn



# Other publications from SCR on the Climate Smart Disaster Risk Management Approach:

Climate Smart Disaster Risk Management in Brief. Mitchell, T. and Ibrahim, M. (2010) Strengthening Climate Resilience, Brighton: IDS

An introduction to Climate Smart Disaster Risk Management. Mitchell, T.; Ibrahim, M.; Harris, K.; Hedger, M.; Polack, E.; Ahmed, A.; Hall, N.; Hawrylyshyn, K.; Nightingale, K.; Onyango, M.; Adow, M., and Sajjad Mohammed, S. (2010), Strengthening Climate Resilience, Brighton: IDS



